FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/25/2025 BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
4/25/2025 1:12 PM

SUPREME COURTNO.	Case #:	1041012

NO. 84887-9-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

V.

BERNARD BELLEROUCHE,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

The Honorable Jason Poydras, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARY T. SWIFT Attorney for Petitioner

NIELSEN KOCH & GRANNIS, PLLC The Denny Building 2200 Sixth Ave., Ste. 1250 Seattle, WA 98121 (206) 623-2373

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Is this Court's review warranted to resolve the sharp divide among the three-judge panel in Bellerouche's case as to how courts determine whether language used at trial could be racially coded and, in turn, whether the prosecutor's repeated use of the term "beef" was a racially coded term in the context of Bellerouche's trial, where one Black man was accused of shooting another Black man but no motive was ever established?
- 2. Is this Court's review warranted, where the three-judge panel also could not agree as to whether the trial court erred under ER 403 in admitting at best marginally relevant but at worst

powerfully inflammatory photographs of Bellerouche wearing a shirt depicting a woman's bare bottom and a sexually suggestive pun, which could have triggered jurors' unconscious biases and alienated Bellerouche from the jury?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner Bernard Bellerouche is a Black man accused of shooting another Black man, Terrance Robinson. Although Bellerouche's trial was lengthy, with several detectives and expert witnesses testifying, the case ultimately boiled down to Bellerouche's word against Robinson's. No other eyewitnesses to the event testified, and no evidence corroborated Robinson's testimony any more than Bellerouche's testimony.¹

On July 25, 2020, a large group of people including Bellerouche gathered to remember Bellerouche's best friend, Lloyd Whitney, who had passed away the prior year. 2RP 852-53, 862. Bellerouche's childhood friend, Solomon Egger, also

-2-

¹ The dissenting opinion also thoroughly lays out the relevant facts of Bellerouche's trial. Dissent, 3-24.

attended the memorial. 2RP 857. Egger died in September of 2020 and so did not testify at Bellerouche's trial. 2RP 636-38. A video found on Egger's phone depicted about 10 minutes of the memorial, at one point showing a Remy Martin cognac bottle, which Bellerouche acknowledged he and others drank from that night. 2RP 858-59; Ex. 65 (6:14 elapsed time, "ET").

Many of the attendees, including Bellerouche, his first child's mother Leandra Stanton, and Egger, eventually traveled to North Seattle to lay flowers at the site where Whitney died. 2RP 861-63. The attendees dispersed around midnight and a smaller group went to get Chinese food at a restaurant in a Shoreline business plaza. 2RP 306, 863. Egger drove Bellerouche's vehicle, with Bellerouche in the front passenger seat and Stanton in the back. 2RP 863.

All day, Bellerouche had been encouraging another friend, Dino Nguyen, to attend the memorial. Ex. 86, at 17-24; 2RP 860. Nguyen finally joined the group in Shoreline, and Bellerouche visited with him for a while. 2RP 865-66. Nguyen could never be

located after the shooting and so also did not testify at Bellerouche's trial. 2RP 638.

By 2:00 a.m., Bellerouche was back sitting in the passenger seat of his own vehicle. 2RP 869-70. Video from the McDonald's drive-through just to the north depicted the bottom half of Bellerouche's black BMW parked next to Nguyen's white Audi SUV:



Ex. 17; 2RP 865. The Remy Martin bottle is just visible between the two vehicles and was later found there. 1RP 1180-81²; 2RP 633-34. Bellerouche's fingerprints were on the bottle. 2RP 382-84.

For the next 33 minutes, Bellerouche sat in the passenger seat of his vehicle, talking with Stanton, her friend, and Egger, who was in and out of the driver's seat. 2RP 869-70. Bellerouche was not paying attention to who was in Nguyen's vehicle or what was happening in there. 2RP 871. Stanton, who can be seen on the McDonald's video at various times, left with her friend at 2:26 a.m.

_

² 1RP refers to the transcript from the first half of Bellerouche's trial done by Rose Landberg (filed on October 31, 2023). This transcript was originally done by a different transcriptionist, but it had numerous inaccuracies and inaudible notations, so Ms. Landberg redid the transcript. Mot. for Reconsideration, 2-5. The original majority and dissenting opinions relied on the old, incomplete transcripts. Mot. for Reconsideration, 2, 5-8. The dissenting judge corrected the error sua sponte, but the two-judge majority refused to reconsider its opinion in light of the new, complete transcripts by Ms. Landberg. 3/17/25 Order Withdrawing & Substituting Opinion; 3/26/25 Order Denying Mot. for Reconsideration.

2RP 870-71, 894. Egger can also be seen at times moving around outside the vehicle. Ex. 17 (13:49 ET); 2RP 871-72.

Bellerouche left the parking lot with Egger driving when they heard what sounded like gunshots. 2RP 872. Cell tower evidence showed Bellerouche's and Egger's phones in close proximity moving south through the Greenwood neighborhood, consistent with them leaving together. 2RP 795-98; Ex. 92. Bellerouche did not talk to Nguyen about the shooting, because "[t]hat whole situation was just sketchy" and he "didn't want to get involved with that situation." 2RP 881.

Robinson's version of events largely lined up with Bellerouche's except, of course, for a few key points. Robinson was a longtime friend of Egger's. 1RP 934-35. Robinson also knew Nguyen through Egger and they hung out with the same group. 1RP 935-36. Robinson claimed to know Bellerouche, as well, although only by his nickname Crucial. 1RP 936-37. Bellerouche did not have Robinson's contact information in his phone. 2RP 514.

Robinson joined the group in Shoreline at the Chinese restaurant. 1RP 943-45. Robinson explained he was first there with a romantic interest, but refused to give her full name. 1RP 995-96; 2RP 685-86. Eventually, though, Robinson got in the back seat of Nguyen's white Audi. 1RP 949-50. Robinson said he sat behind Nguyen in the driver's seat, with Bellerouche in the front passenger seat. 1RP 950. There were no arguments; apparently, "[e]verything was cordial." 1RP 947.

At 2:20 a.m., the McDonald's video shows Robinson cracking his door. Ex. 17 (20:51 ET). Robinson had asked Nguyen to unlock the doors because he did not like being locked in the car. 1RP 957-58. A short time later, Robinson said Bellerouche pulled out a black handgun without provocation and shot him in the face. 1RP 959-60, 1004. As Robinson scrambled to get out of the vehicle, he was shot twice more in the shoulder. 1RP 959; 2RP 258.

The McDonald's video shows Robinson running from the white Audi at 2:33 a.m. Ex. 17 (33:50 ET). Ten seconds later,

Nguyen's vehicle leaves to the left, while Bellerouche's vehicle leaves heading straight. Ex. 17 (34:00 ET). A third vehicle facing the other two also leaves the scene following Nguyen. Ex. 17 (34:08 ET). Robinson knew the occupant of that vehicle but refused to identify him. 1RP 960, 1013-14.

The prosecution charged Bellerouche with first degree assault and first degree unlawful possession of a firearm. CP 1-2, 229-30. Bellerouche proceeded to a jury trial. 1RP 505. No one who identified as Black served on Bellerouche's jury. CP 93.

Robinson testified Bellerouche was the one who shot him, although refused to use Bellerouche's name or even his nickname, calling him only "the defendant" or "the passenger in the white truck," referring to Nguyen's white Audi SUV. 1RP 944-45, 947, 950, 955, 960, 970. Bellerouche testified at trial that he was not the shooter and instead was sitting in the passenger seat of his own vehicle, the black BMW, at the time of the shooting. 2RP 869-72. There was no apparent motive for the shooting. 2RP 957.

After deliberating for almost two full days, the jury found Bellerouche guilty of first degree assault. CP 259-60, 463-64. A brief bifurcated trial followed, at which Bellerouche stipulated to a prior serious offense but maintained he was not the shooter. 2RP 1042, 1059. The jury also found Bellerouche guilty of unlawful possession of a firearm. CP 260.

D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

On appeal, Bellerouche raised concerns about implicit racial bias potentially infecting his trial. Bellerouche argued the fairness of his trial was undermined by (1) race-based prosecutorial misconduct throughout trial, as well as (2) trial court error under ER 403 in admitting overly prejudicial photographs of him that could have triggered harmful stereotypes about Black men.³

³ Bellerouche raised an additional claim of prosecutorial misconduct based on a comment made during closing argument,

which he does not advance here. Br. of Appellant, 39-45.

-9-

1. The sharply divided court of appeals' opinion necessitates this Court's guidance as to how courts determine whether language could be racially coded and whether racially coded language was used in Bellerouche's case.

Bellerouche's first argument, race-based prosecutorial misconduct, centered on the prosecution's repeated use of the term "beef" during trial. Br. of Appellant, 29-39; Reply Br., 11-18.

Neither Robinson nor Bellerouche, nor any other witness, introduced the concept of "beef" in their testimony. But the prosecution repeatedly used that term, starting with opening statement: "Terrance Robinson was unsuspecting. There had been no argument. There was no beef." 1RP 905.

Then, on direct-examination of Robinson, the prosecution asked, "you have any beef with Solomon Egger?" 1RP 934. Robinson responded, "Not at all." 1RP 934. The prosecution shortly thereafter asked Robinson, "were you fighting [with Egger] or anything like that around July 26th?" 1RP 935. Robinson said, "Nothing like that." 1RP 935. The prosecution then asked, "Prior

to this, July 26, 2020, did you have any beef or any argument with Crucial?" 1RP 937.

The prosecution brought up "beef" again unprompted on cross-examination of Bellerouche. The prosecution first asked whether Bellerouche was in fear for his safety from Nguyen, Egger, or Robinson. 2RP 890. Bellerouche said no. 2RP 890. The prosecution then asked whether Bellerouche had "any arguments with any of them on or about July 25th and July 26th, 2020?" 2RP 890. When Bellerouche responded that he did not, the prosecution persisted, "Any beef with any of them?" 2RP 891.

The prosecution reiterated the term in closing argument, "Yes, Terrance was correct, there were no arguments, no beefs between anybody at that parking lot that Mr. Bellerouche knew about." 2RP 956.

Bellerouche argued "beef" was a racially coded term in the context of his trial—a Black man accused of indiscriminate gun violence another Black man—and the prosecutor's repeated use of

the term constituted race-based misconduct requiring reversal of his convictions. Br. of Appellant, 29-39.

Bellerouche demonstrated the term "beef" has often been used a colloquialism associated with the Black community and/or gang violence. For instance, the Oxford English Dictionary etymology provides: "Originally in African American usage: animosity, ill feeling, antipathy, as between rivals or rival groups. Frequently in to have beef (with a person): to hold a grudge (against someone), to feud (with someone)," from 1986 to present.⁴ Bellerouche additionally cited to scholarly authority, news articles, and alternative dictionaries like Urban Dictionary demonstrating the same. Br. of Appellant, 33-35; Reply Br. 12-13 & n.3. Bellerouche further emphasized the term "beef" is frequently used by Black hip-hop and rap artists to connote violence, gun violence in particular. Br. of Appellant, 34-35.

_

⁴ OXFORD ENGLISH DICTIONARY, "beef (n.2)" (June 2024), https://www.oed.com/dictionary/beef_n2?tab=meaning_and_us e#1374537080 (last visited Apr. 25, 2025).

Bellerouche emphasized "[n]ot all appeals to racial prejudice are blatant." Br. of Appellant, 31 (quoting State v. Monday, 171 Wn.2d 667, 678, 257 P.3d 551 (2011)). Subtle references to racial stereotypes can be "just as insidious" and "[p]erhaps more effective." Monday, 171 Wn.2d at 678; see also State v. Bagby, 200 Wn.2d 777, 794, 522 P.3d 982 (2023) (recognizing "[b]iases are often activated through the use of coded language or racial code words").

Bellerouche argued an objective observer could conclude repeated use of the term "beef" evoked harmful stereotypes of Black men as prone to violent crime. Br. of Appellant, 37-38. The term "othered" both Bellerouche and Robinson, suggesting a world of feuding, rival gangs, and gun violence likely foreign to Bellerouche's jury, none of whom identified as Black. CP 93. And, although Robinson and Bellerouche denied any "beef," the concept supplied the missing motive for a seemingly senseless act of violence by appealing to jurors' unconscious biases about Black

men. This, in turn, suggested it was more likely Bellerouche shot Robinson because of his race.

Bellerouche stressed that the prosecution's use of the term "beef" was completely unnecessary. Br. of Appellant, 36-37. With all but one reference to "beef," the prosecutor also said there were no arguments and no fighting between Robinson and Bellerouche—neutral ways to convey the same thing. See, e.g., 1RP 905 ("There had been no argument. There was no beef."), 937 ("did you have any beef or any argument with Crucial?"); 2RP 956 ("there were no arguments, no beefs between anybody"). Indeed, the prosecutor first asked Bellerouche whether he had "any arguments" with Nguyen, Egger, or Robinson. 2RP 890. After Bellerouche said no, the prosecutor persisted, "Any beef with any of them?" 2RP 891. The unnecessary follow-up question, already answered, served to emphasize the term "beef" and the distinct racially coded concepts inherent in the term.

Bellerouche's argument sharply divided the court of appeals. The two-judge majority rejected Bellerouche's claim,

drawing a scathing dissent from Judge Linda Coburn. Both opinions analyzed but came to very different conclusions about the four-factor framework for evaluating race-based misconduct claims: "(1) the content and subject of the questions and comments, (2) the frequency of the remarks, (3) the apparent purpose of the statements, and (4) whether the comments were based on evidence or reasonable inferences in the record." <u>Bagby</u>, 200 Wn.2d at 794; Majority, 19; Dissent, 29.

(1) Content and subject of prosecutor's remarks. The majority disagreed with Bellerouche that "beef" was a racially coded term in the context of his trial, rejecting Bellerouche's reliance on etymology, nonstandard dictionaries, and pop culture references. Majority, 21-24. The majority instead concluded, "we should assess the words prosecutors use—in the first instance and when necessary—by reference to the general meaning of the term found in a standard dictionary, particularly when a term is widely used." Majority, 22.

"Using a standard dictionary," the majority found "the meaning of the term 'beef' is simply slang for a 'grievance or ground for complaint' without any racialized sense of the word." Majority, 21 (quoting WEBSTER'S THIRD INTERNAT'L DICTIONARY 196 (2002)). The majority therefore held "the term 'beef' does not have a clear racial connotation to an objective observer, absent additional context," because "a racial meaning is not umnistakably or exclusively tied to the term 'beef." Majority, 23.

The dissent believed the majority's "exercise in semantics and etymology . . . to discern the 'general meaning' of 'beef' effectively disregard[ed] the objective observer lens that a court must adopt to determine if a prosecutor's language is racially coded." Dissent, 3. The dissent criticized the majority for relying on inapt statutory interpretation cases to apply the standard dictionary definition. Dissent, 3. The dissent emphasized the question should not be "whether a word or phrase umnistakably or exclusively, or even likely, has a racial connotation, as the majority suggests, but instead whether an object observer could recognize

in the context of Bellerouche's trial that the prosecutor's use of 'beef' constituted an allusion to negative biases or stereotypes about the Black community." Dissent, 31 (footnote and internal quotation marks omitted).

The dissent concluded such was the case here. The dissent noted the prosecutor "repeatedly used 'beef' in combination with 'argument' or 'fighting.'" Dissent, 35. This juxtaposition "subtly suggest[ed] that 'beef' means something more, something different than just an argument, fight, or some other generic disagreement." Dissent, 35. The sources Bellerouche cited demonstrated that, "[u]nlike 'fighting' or 'argument,' 'beef' is commonly associated with Black hip hop and rap culture to refer to feuds between rappers, including rivalries that result in gun violence with tragic endings." Dissent, 35. The dissent believed "the prosecutor's particular and unnecessary use of 'beef' could have primed jurors to pay more attention, even subconsciously, to Bellerouche's race and activated jurors' implicit biases to cause them to associate Bellerouche with stereotypes that position Black criminal defendants in worlds and lifestyles marked by crime and violence." Dissent, 36.

(2) Frequency of the remarks. The majority acknowledged the prosecutor used the term "beef" five times during Bellerouche's 10-day trial, but emphasized it "was spread out over those 10 days." Majority, 25-26. The majority condoned the repeated use because it believed each instance "focused, not on the State's trial theme, but on a major weakness of the State's case, the apparent lack of a motive for the shooting." Majority, 26.

The dissent disagreed, concluding, "[b]y introducing 'beef' early in opening and referring back to it in closing, the prosecutor presented a racially driven prism through which the jury should view the evidence." Dissent, 42. The dissent further emphasized the prosecutor "punctuated the trial at key points by reinforcing the racially tied term when examining both Bellerouche and Robinson." Dissent, 42. In the dissenting judge's view, this demonstrated the term was employed in "an objectively strategic manner." Dissent, 42.

(3) Apparent purpose for the term. The majority concluded the prosecution's use of the term "beef" in its examination of Robinson and Bellerouche was simply "to determine the circumstances surrounding and prior to the shooting." Majority, 27.

The dissent believed the majority, in so concluding, "critically fail[ed] to consider the larger trial narrative in which the remarks were made." Dissent, 43. The dissent emphasized Washington Supreme Court precedent requires courts "to assess an allegation of race-based prosecutorial misconduct within the *entire* context of the trial." Dissent, 43 (citing cases). In the context of Bellerouche's entire trial, the dissent concluded, "the objective observer could conclude that the 'beef' remarks were among the breadcrumbs dropped by the prosecutor to lead jurors down a path to fill an obvious gap in the State's evidence—why would Bellerouche shoot Robinson?" Dissent, 43.

This context, among other things, included a detective misidentifying another Black man as Bellerouche in the Egger

video and speculating that the man "appeared" to have a firearm in his hand. Dissent, 44, 48; 2RP 468-69. The defense demonstrated the man was, in fact, Bellerouche's friend Demetrius Lindsey and he was carrying a keychain. 2RP 856-58; Ex. 78. The prosecution played, over defense objection, the audio from the Egger video that featured Lil Wayne's entire rap song "I Miss My Dawgs," including the lyric "Me and you to the very end, for only you I'll sin again" repeated six times, as well as the lyric "We thug." Dissent, 44-47; Ex. 65 (starting at 1:14 ET); 1RP 797-99. The prosecution also baselessly implied Bellerouche was a drug dealer. Dissent, 48-49; 2RP 888-89. The dissent believed this context demonstrated "the prosecutor effectively cleared the way for the jury to associate the word 'beef' with other objectively odious breadcrumbs to reinforce the stereotype that Bellerouche, because he is Black, was more likely to have ruthlessly shot Robinson for no reason other than to 'sin again' as a commemorative act for his dead friend." Dissent, 47-48.

(4) Basis in the evidence. The majority finally concluded the prosecution's use of the term "in its opening statement and closing argument derived directly from its examination of Robinson and Bellerouche." Majority, 28.

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