FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/18/2025 3:56 PM
BY SARAH R. PENDLETON
CLERK

NO. 104101-2

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,
Respondent,

٧.

BERNARD BELLEROUCHE,

Petitioner.

STATE'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

LEESA MANION (she/her) King County Prosecuting Attorney

ANDREA R. VITALICH Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

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

E. ARGUMENT

1. BELLEROUCHE'S CLAIMS OF PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT ARE NOT SUPPORTED BY AN OBJECTIVELY REASONABLE VIEW OF THE RECORD.

Bellerouche contends, as did the dissent, that the word "beef" has racial overtones that are objectively apparent enough to merit a new trial. Particularly when coupled with video that included a Lil Wayne song and two photos of Bellerouche wearing a T-shirt depicting a woman wearing a thong, Bellerouche asserts (and the dissent agreed) that the trial was imbued with racial bias portraying him as a dangerous young Black man. But, as the majority recognized, Bellerouche's claims rely upon a

distorted view of the record and negative inferences that are not objectively reasonable. This Court should deny review.

Absent an objection at trial, a defendant generally cannot claim prosecutorial misconduct on appeal unless the prosecutor's conduct was so "flagrant and ill-intentioned" that no curative instruction could have ameliorated the resulting prejudice. *State v. Emery*, 174 Wn.2d 741, 760-61, 278 P.3d 653 (2012). In other words, a defendant who did not object "must show the improper conduct resulted in *incurable* prejudice." *State v. Zamora*, 199 Wn.2d 698, 709, 512 P.3d 512 (2022) (emphasis in original).

A different test applies when the alleged misconduct involves an appeal to racial or ethnic bias. *State v. McKenzie*, 21 Wn. App. 2d 722, 729, 508 P.3d 205 (2022). If the defendant first proves that a prosecutor improperly implicated racial or ethnic bias, the reviewing

court then considers whether the prosecutor "flagrantly or apparently intentionally" appealed to bias "in a way that undermines the defendant's credibility or the presumption of innocence[.]" Zamora, 199 Wn.2d at 709 (quoting State v. Monday, 171 Wn.2d 667, 680, 257 P.3d 551 (2011)). This is an objective test; the question is whether the misconduct *appeared* intentional within the context of the trial. Zamora, at 716. The relevant inquiry is whether an objective observer could view the prosecutor's conduct as an appeal to racial prejudice, bias, or stereotypes. *Id.* at 718. An objective observer is one who is aware of this country's history of racial discrimination and of implicit, institutional, and unconscious biases, as well as purposeful discrimination. Id.

Factors considered in determining whether a prosecutor appealed to racial bias include the apparent purpose of the statements, whether the comments were based on evidence or reasonable inferences in the

record, and the frequency of the remarks. *Id.* at 718-19. If the prosecutor flagrantly or apparently intentionally appealed to racial or ethnic bias, the defendant is entitled to reversal without a specific showing of prejudice. *Id.* at 721.

This Court should deny review of Bellerouche's claims. This record, whether viewed subjectively or objectively, does not establish that the prosecutor used the word "beef" to invoke or inflame racial bias, prejudice, or stereotypes. On the contrary, the record shows nothing more than the occasional use of a common colloquial term for an argument or dispute.

As the Court of Appeals majority reasonably held, this case in no way resembles those in which racially biased misconduct has justified reversal. For instance, in *Zamora* — a case involving a defendant of Latinx heritage and a United States citizen — the prosecutor "began voir dire by introducing the topics of border security, illegal

immigration, and crimes committed by undocumented immigrants," stated that 100,000 people "illegally" crossed the border each month, and asked prospective jurors if they had heard about a "drug bust" in Arizona involving a quantity of fentanyl "that would have killed 65 million Americans." *Zamora*, 199 Wn.2d at 703. These topics were not relevant to any issue in the case. *Id.* at 719.

In *Monday*, the prosecutor mocked the way a Black witness pronounced the word "police" and argued in closing that there was a "code" that "[B]lack folk don't testify against [B]lack folk." *Monday*, 171 Wn.2d at 672-74. And in *McKenzie*, the prosecutor elicited testimony from a detective about the term "gorilla pimp" in a case with a Black defendant. *McKenzie*, 21 Wn. App. at 727-28. As the court correctly held, comparing a Black man to a gorilla "is clearly racist rhetoric." *Id.* at 730.

There is simply no comparison to those cases here.

Equating the word "beef," meaning "dispute," with the

word "gorilla" or wholly irrelevant voir dire questions about border security strains credulity.

The prosecutor used the word "beef" five times during a nine-day trial and neither of Bellerouche's attorneys objected. As explained at length in the State's Court of Appeals brief, the term "beef" as a colloquialism has been used for over a century. See Brief of Respondent (COA No. 84887-9-I) at 21-26. The lack of objections from Bellerouche's attorneys is telling in this regard. See State v. Swan, 114 Wn.2d 613, 661, 790 P.2d 610 (1990) (lack of objection "strongly suggests to a court that the argument or event in question did not appear critically prejudicial to an appellant in the context of the trial"). The majority opinion below probably said it best: "If dehumanizing every [B]lack person in the courtroom had been the apparent intent, the lack of an objection would be perplexing." Bellerouche, 33 Wn. App. 2d at 901. This lack of objections is particularly significant in this case, because Bellerouche's attorneys did not shy away from making objections when they thought evidence might be prejudicial.

For instance, Bellerouche's attorneys argued that a cellphone report should be redacted using white blocks instead of black blocks because white redactions would be less obvious to the jury. 10/12/22RP 326-38. Nearly 15 pages of the trial transcript are devoted to arguments about whether briefly explaining Detective Free's speech impediment to the jury would be unfairly prejudicial. 10/13/22RP 541-56. Bellerouche's attorneys also sought to exclude the entire audio portion of the Egger phone video because the Lil Wayne song included the "N word" and profanity. 6 CP 92-94; 9/22/22RP 666-67, 773; 9/28/22RP 789-800.

⁶ The State agreed to edit the audio to remove racial slurs

and profanity, and the trial court agreed that was appropriate. 9/28/22RP 794-95, 800-02. Bellerouche's

In short, if Bellerouche's attorneys had any concerns about the word "beef," they would have objected. As the majority correctly found, "beef" as a colloquial term for a dispute is widely used, and its purported racial overtones are not apparent to an objective observer. *Bellerouche*, 33 Wn. App. 2d at 898-900. Because "beef" is not a racially biased term that suggests negative stereotypes, Bellerouche cannot show impropriety by the prosecutor. He certainly cannot demonstrate that the prosecutor "flagrantly or apparently intentionally" appealed to bias "in a way that undermines the defendant's credibility or the presumption of innocence[.]" Zamora, 199 Wn.2d at 709. This claim does not merit review.

Nonetheless, the dissenting judge went to great lengths to portray "beef" as a negative, racially charged

attorneys agreed the redactions addressed "a lot of defense's concern." 9/28/22RP 797-98.

term. These efforts distort the record. For example, the dissent emphasized that "beef" was "introduced" into the record by the prosecutor, and that it was "not relevant" or based on the evidence. *Bellerouche*, at 959 (Coburn, J. dissenting). The State tried to address this concern by supplementing the record after oral argument — to which Bellerouche objected — to explain the relevance of the word "beef" in this case. See Motion to File Supplemental Designation of Clerk's Papers or Exhibits, attached as Appendix. Specifically, the word "beef" was used by Robinson when speaking with police to convey that there was no dispute with Bellerouche or the others prior to the shooting. See Appendix. The dissent ignored this entirely, likely because it does not support the notion of "nefarious breadcrumbs."⁷

⁷ The majority decided the State's motion was moot because Bellerouche's convictions were affirmed. *Bellerouche*, at 905, n.11.

Indeed, the dissent even stated that the prosecutor improperly used the term "point-blank range," because "other than the evidence of the shooting of Robinson occurring in Nguyen's Audi and that he was shot in the face, the record is devoid of evidence that Robinson was shot at 'point blank' range." Bellerouche, at 945 (Coburn, J., dissenting) (emphasis added). If shooting someone in the face in the close confines of a car is not "point-blank range," it is difficult to imagine what would be. And "point-blank," like "beef," has an ordinary, non-inflammatory definition. The dissent unreasonably finds "nefarious breadcrumbs" where there are none.

Bellerouche and the dissent further contend that the hip-hop song and the T-shirt bolstered the prosecutor's portrayal of Bellerouche as a violent, hypersexualized,

⁸ See Merriam-Webster online, available at https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/point-blank (last accessed 7/16/2025).

dangerous young Black man. First, as will be discussed further below, Lil Wayne is an extremely popular recording artist, 9 and the song "I Miss My Dawgs" was released more than 20 years ago. As the trial court correctly observed, the song is not "suggestive of a gang culture or gang affiliation." 9/28/22RP 800. Second, as the majority held, Bellerouche's argument that the Hennessy T-shirt "recalls offensive stereotypes of a misogynistic 'gangster' or 'thug'" are "based on questionable leaps of logic." Bellerouche, at 890. Instead, the shirt "simply happens to be the lightly embarrassing shirt Bellerouche happened to choose to wear the day he happened to be arrested." Id. As the

⁹ As the prosecutor noted at trial, Lil Wayne is one of the best-selling hip-hop artists of all time. 9/28/22RP 799-800.

majority held, the shirt was "cheesy," but not unfairly prejudicial. 10 *Id.*

Nonetheless, Bellerouche and the dissent maintain that "beef," the song, and the T-shirt had the effect of "othering" Bellerouche from the jury. *See id.* at 897. As the majority observed, this would also mean "othering" Robinson and the trial judge — an unwise trial strategy, to say the least. *Id.* at 901.

To be clear, race-based prosecutorial misconduct should not be tolerated — when it exists. But the claims in this case do not merit review.

¹⁰ By contrast, the dissent would grant a new trial based solely on the shirt. *Id.* at 960 (Coburn, J., dissenting).

2. THE RACIAL STEREOTYPING BELLEROUCHE ALLEGES REQUIRES ENGAGING IN OUTDATED RACIAL STEREOTYPING.

Hip-hop music was born in the Bronx 50 years ago. 11 Hip-hop music and culture are now ubiquitous and immensely popular among millions of people of many ages and races. The venerated Kennedy Center offers comparative-literature lessons for high-school students comparing hip-hop lyrics and Shakespearean sonnets. 12 Hip-hop superstar Kendrick Lamar performed the most recent Super Bowl halftime show, including his multiple-

concert.html (last accessed 7/11/2025).

¹¹ See Alex Vadakul, Old-School Fans Celebrate Hip-Hop's 50th, New York Times, Aug. 18, 2023, available at https://www.nytimes.com/2023/08/13/style/hip-hop-50-

¹² The Kennedy Center, *The Poetics of Hip Hop – What is the relationship between Shakespearean sonnets and hip hop music?*, available at https://www.kennedy-center.org/education/resources-for-educators/classroom-resources/lessons-and-activities/lessons/9-12/the-poetics-of-hip-hop/ (last accessed 7/14/2025).

Grammy-winning hit "Not Like Us" — a "diss track" about his well-publicized "beef" with fellow artist Drake. 13 Nudity, too, is virtually everywhere in mainstream popular culture — including imagery far more explicit than women wearing thongs. 14

And yet, Bellerouche and the dissent maintain that the word "beef," a popular song by Lil Wayne, and a "cheesy" T-shirt advertising French liquor evoke such objectively negative stereotypes that they could have led the jury to view Bellerouche as threatening, hypersexual,

¹³ Scotty Andrews, "Not Like Us" started as a diss. Now, it's a Super Bowl anthem, CNN Entertainment, Feb. 10, 2025, available at https://www.cnn.com/2025/02/09/entertainment/not-like-us-kendrick-lamar-super-bowl-cec (last accessed 7/11/2025).

¹⁴ Neda Ulaby, *You're not seeing things – 'nudity creep' in streaming TV reveals more of its stars*, NPR, October 20, 2023, available at https://www.cfpublic.org/2023-10-20/youre-not-seeing-things-nudity-creep-in-streaming-tv-reveals-more-of-its-stars (last accessed 7/14/2025).

and violent. These notions are outdated and contrary to current cultural norms.

Both Bellerouche and the dissent invoke the "beef" between 1990s rap artists Tupac Shakur and Biggie Smalls (also known as The Notorious B.I.G.), both of whom were shot and killed in cases that have never been solved, to support the notion that the word "beef" coupled with hip-hop music evokes gang violence and negative stereotypes of young Black men. See Petition at 34-35; Bellerouche, at 945 (Coburn, J., dissenting). But these events took place nearly 30 years ago, when hip-hop music and culture were far less prevalent and mainstream. Today, as noted above, a "beef" among

Thomas

¹⁵ Thomas Galindo, *Behind the Beef: The Fatal Feud Between Tupac and Notorious B.I.G.*, American Songwriter, June 23, 2023, available at https://americansongwriter.com/behind-the-beef-the-fatal-feud-between-tupac-and-notorious-b-i-g/ (last accessed 7/15/2025).

hip-hop artists produces a Grammy-winning Song of the Year rather than gun violence. 16

As another example, Ice-T, a pioneer of "gansta rap"¹⁷ and composer of the controversial 1992 song "Cop Killer," now stars as a police detective in a popular network show in the "Law and Order" franchise.¹⁸ And Lil

¹⁶ Douglas Markowitz, *Kendrick Lamar Sweeps the 2025 GRAMMYs With Song Of The Year Win*, Grammy Awards, Feb. 3, 2025, available at https://www.grammy.com/news/kendrick-lamar-not-like-us-wins-song-of-the-year-2025-grammys (last accessed 7/15/2025).

¹⁷ Kelly Coffey-Behrens, *Ice-T Reflects On Defining 'OG' And The Birth Of Gangsta Rap*, Yahoo Entertainment, June 10, 2025, available at https://www.yahoo.com/entertainment/articles/ice-t-reflects-defining-og-214519109.html (last accessed 7/14/2025). Ice-T's album "O.G. Original Gangster" was released in 1991.

¹⁸ Alex Ross, *Ice-T on What Makes SVU 'Special' After 25 Seasons: 'People Walk Up in the Street and Say Thank You,'* People Magazine online, Jan. 18, 2024, available at https://people.com/ice-t-on-what-makes-law-and-order-svu-special-after-25-seasons-exclusive-8431106 (last accessed 7/14/2025); see also NPR Talk of the Nation, *Ice-T, From 'Cop Killer' to 'Law and Order,'* aired April 27, 2011, available at

Wayne's album "Tha Carter," which includes "I Miss My Dawgs," was released in 2004 — over 20 years ago. ¹⁹ In this day and age, the chances that the term "beef," a shirt, and a 20-year-old song by a best-selling artist evoked negative racial stereotypes are, to say the least, remote. Bellerouche's assertions are more akin to the "moral panic" of the 1950s and '60s regarding rock'n'roll²⁰ than they are reasonable now, after a half-century of hip-hop.²¹

https://www.npr.org/2011/04/27/135771115/ice-t-from-cop-killer-to-law-order (last accessed 7/15/2025).

¹⁹ Douglas Markowitz, *A Guide To All Of Lil Wayne's 'Tha Carter' Albums: Breaking Down His Journey To 'Tha Carter VI,'* Grammy Awards, June 6, 2025, available at https://www.grammy.com/news/lil-wayne-tha-carter-vi-albums-breakdown (last accessed 7/15/2025).

²⁰ Steve Williams, Ph.D., *Rock'n'roll and "moral panics"* – *Part One: 1950s and 1960s*, University of Southern Indiana, Feb. 20, 2017, available at https://www.usi.edu/news/releases/2017/02/rock-n-roll-and-moral-panics-part-one-1950s-and-1960s (last accessed 7/15/2025). Notably, one aspect of moral panic about rock'n'roll included a "fear of race mixing." *Id.*

²¹ Another fair comparison is the now-laughable 1938 film "Reefer Madness," a "[c]autionary tale" wherein "drug dealers lead innocent teenagers to become addicted to

Bellerouche's claims also require taking a very dim view of the jury. Jurors "are not leaves swayed by every breath," and they are presumed to follow their instructions. *State v. Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d 918, 928, 155 P.3d 125 (2007) (quoting *United States v. Garsson*, 291 F. 646, 649 (D.N.Y. 1923)). In this case, the jurors were instructed not to let bias or prejudice influence their decision-making, and to bring it to the court's attention if they had concerns. CP 280. And, although the jurors' demographics are not part of the appellate record, ²² their answers to questions during voir dire reveal awareness of systemic bias.

_

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